### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA

#### THE CITY OF OLDSMAR,

Plaintiff-Appellant,

v.

Case No.

L.T. No. 00-004479-CI-21

THE STATE OF FLORIDA, and the taxpayers, property owners and citizens of the City of Oldsmar, Florida, including non-residents owning property in, or subject to taxation by, the City of Oldsmar, and STATE OF FLORIDA, DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORATION,

Defendants-Appellees.

### INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT, CITY OF OLDSMAR

George E. Spofford, IV Florida Bar No. 530212 Trenton H. Cotney Florida Bar No. 176214 Glenn Rasmussen Fogarty & Hooker, P.A. P. O. Box 3333 Tampa, FL 33601-3333 (813) 229-3333/(813) 229-5946 (Fax) Attorneys for the City of Oldsmar

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

This appeal addresses the dismissal of a bond validation lawsuit filed by the City of Oldsmar, Florida ("City"), in which the City sought a judicial determination whether a debt obligation entered into by the City violated Article VII, Section 12 of the Florida Constitution. The debt obligation in question arises out of a written Joint Project Agreement ("JPA") between the City and the State of Florida, Department of Transportation ("FDOT"). Pursuant to the JPA, the FDOT agreed to pay for certain construction work to be performed for the City's benefit, and the City agreed to reimburse the FDOT the amounts paid by the FDOT on the City's behalf. The City contends that the JPA constitutes a long term debt (bond or certificate of indebtedness) governed by Article VII, Section 12 of the Florida Constitution, and as such is void because the JPA was never approved by a referendum vote of the City's citizens.

In an effort to obtain a judicial determination regarding whether the JPA is void, the City filed a bond validation suit in Pinellas County Circuit Court pursuant to Chapter 75, Florida Statutes, naming as party defendants the State of Florida, and the taxpayers, property owners and citizens of the City of Oldsmar, Florida, including non-residents owning property in, or subject to taxation by, the City of Oldsmar. The Office of the State Attorney filed a response to the City's Complaint and appeared on behalf of the named defendants. The FDOT intervened in the Pinellas County suit, and the FDOT and named defendants moved to dismiss the suit for lack of subject matter jurisdiction. The defendants argued that the JPA was merely a contract, not a "bond or certificate of indebtedness," and therefore, neither Article VII, Section 12 of the Florida Constitution or Chapter 75, Florida Statutes were implicated. The Pinellas County Circuit Court dismissed the bond validation suit on the grounds that the court lacked subject matter jurisdiction because, in the court's opinion, the JPA was not a bond or certificate of indebtedness subject to Article VII, Section 12 of the Florida Constitution, or Chapter 75, Florida Statutes. The Trial Court also ruled that the City was collaterally estopped from bringing the Pinellas County lawsuit because there was (and is) a lawsuit currently pending in Hillsborough County in which the City is arguing that the JPA violates Article VII, Section 12 of the Florida Constitution as an affirmative defense.

Following the Trial Court's dismissal, the City timely brought this appeal. The City contends in this appeal: that the Pinellas County Circuit Court erred when it dismissed the suit because the Trial Court did have jurisdiction; that the Trial Court erred when it dismissed the suit on the alternative grounds of collateral estoppel because there was no final adjudication in the Hillsborough County suit; and, that the Trial Court erred when it allowed the FDOT to intervene because the FDOT is not an indispensable party to the litigation.

The Florida Supreme Court has mandatory jurisdiction to hear this appeal

pursuant to Section 75.08, Florida Statutes, which states that all appeals of suits brought pursuant to Chapter 75 shall be decided by the Florida Supreme Court.

The material facts in this case are as follows:

In 1995, the State of Florida Department of Transportation ("FDOT") began negotiations with various parties regarding a roadway improvement project on State Road 584 in Pinellas County, Florida, FDOT Project No. 15080-3510(6514), WPI No. 7116900, SR 584 (the "Project"). Within the Project's boundaries were certain utility lines (water and sewer lines) owned by the City that were to be adjusted or relocated during the construction of the roadway project.

On December 1, 1995, the City and FDOT entered into a Joint Project Agreement ("JPA") that was drafted by the FDOT. (Complaint, ¶6, Appendix Tab 1.) <sup>1</sup> The JPA provided that the FDOT would see that the necessary adjustments and relocations of the City's utilities would be performed by the contractor hired by the FDOT to build the Project. (Complaint, ¶8, Appendix Tab 1; JPA ¶¶8, 11 &

12, Appendix Tab 2.)

<sup>2</sup> The JPA also provided that the City would pay the FDOT for the work performed

<sup>1</sup> This appeal arises out of a successful Motion to Dismiss. In considering a Motion to Dismiss, the allegations of the Complaint are to be considered as being true. <sup>2</sup> The JPA is part of the record below as Exhibit B to the City's Complaint. Given the

importance of the JPA as the integral part of this appeal, for convenience the JPA is also included as a separate part of the Appendix at Appendix Tab 2.

on the City's utilities. (Complaint, ¶¶7 & 8, Appendix Tab 1, Appendix Tab 2.) The JPA provided that the City would pay the FDOT \$1,094,817.19 in advance of the construction which would be used by the FDOT to pay the FDOT's contractor to perform the work on the City's utilities. (Complaint ¶¶8 & 9, Appendix Tab 1; JPA ¶1, Appendix Tab 2.)

The significant payment provision for purposes of this appeal is JPA paragraph 11 which states that the FDOT will pay all utility construction expenses and damages in excess of the \$1,094,817.19 advanced by the City, and at the end of the 715 day project, the City will be required to reimburse the FDOT all amounts advanced by the FDOT, plus interest. (JPA ¶11, Appendix Tab 2.) The JPA also states that the City must indemnify the FDOT all damages and attorney's fees the City incurs as a result of the FDOT's involvement with the City's utility work. (JPA ¶10, 12, Appendix Tab 2.)

The City did not conduct a referendum obtaining voter approval of the JPA debt obligation. (Complaint ¶16, Appendix Tab 1.) The JPA lacks any prohibition against the use of City ad valorem taxes to pay the financial obligations arising out of the JPA. (Complaint ¶14, Appendix Tab 1.) The JPA lacks any provision restricting payment of JPA financial obligations to revenues of the Project. (Complaint ¶14, Appendix Tab 1.) The JPA lacks any provision restricting payment of JPA financial obligations to revenues of the Project. (Complaint ¶14, Appendix Tab 1.) The JPA lacks any provision restricting payment of JPA financial obligations to funds appropriated by the City specifically for that

purpose on an annual basis. (Complaint ¶14, Appendix Tab 1.) The City is a municipality with taxing powers as contemplated by Article 7, Section 12 of the Florida Constitution.

The FDOT entered into a construction contract with Kimmins Contracting Corp. ("Kimmins") to build the Project which included the City utility work that the FDOT had agreed to perform pursuant to the JPA. (Hillsborough County Circuit Court Third Party Complaint, Appendix Tab 3A.)

<sup>3</sup> Prior to the start of the work, the City paid the FDOT the agreed upon \$1,094,817.19 for the utility work specified in the JPA. (Complaint, ¶8, Appendix Tab 1.)

On March 19, 1999, Kimmins sued FDOT in Hillsborough County in Case No. 99-2257, Division A, alleging that Kimmins incurred delays and costs on the Project as a result of certain acts and omissions by FDOT, including substantial changes, revisions, errors, and omissions in the specifications and the design of the Project.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> At the August 24, 2000 hearing below, the FDOT submitted certain documents from Hillsborough County Circuit Court Case No. 99-2257 which were made part of the record below. The records from the Hillsborough County Case are included in the Appendix to this Brief at Tab 3 at the following sub-tabs: A) Third Party Complaint; B) City's Answer, Affirmative Defenses, Counterclaim and Demand for Trial; C) City's Motion for Summary Judgment; D) Order Denying Motion for Summary Judgment; E) City's Motion for Reconsideration; F) FDOT's Memorandum Opposing City's Motion for Reconsideration; and, G) Order Denying Motion for Reconsideration.

(Hillsborough County Circuit Court Third Party Complaint, Appendix Tab 3A.) Kimmins is seeking an increase in the contract price of approximately \$6,000,000 from the FDOT. (Transcript of August 24, 2000 hearing, p. 21, Appendix Tab 4.) The FDOT brought a third party suit against the City seeking reimbursement for all funds paid to Kimmins in excess of the original JPA price, plus interest and attorney's fees, above and beyond the \$1,094,817.79 JPA price originally paid to the FDOT. (Hillsborough County Circuit Court Third Party Complaint, Appendix Tab 3A.) The FDOT contends that it is entitled to be reimbursed by the City for payments that the FDOT has already made to Kimmins in excess of the \$1,094,817.79 previously paid by the City. (See Hillsborough County Third Party Complaint ¶30, Appendix Tab 3A.)

On February 25, 2000, the City filed a motion for summary judgment in the Hillsborough County case against the FDOT on the basis that the JPA violates Article VII, Section 12 of the Florida Constitution and is void *ab initio*. (Appendix Tab 3C.) The Hillsborough County Circuit Court denied the City's Motion for Summary Judgment on the grounds that the court believed that factual issues remained to be determined which prevented summary judgment. (Hillsborough County Circuit Court Order, Appendix Tab 3D.) The Hillsborough County lawsuit is still pending.

The City then filed the bond validation proceeding in Pinellas County under Case No. 00-004479-CI-21, which is the subject of this appeal. (Appendix Tab 1.)

Pursuant to Chapter 75, Florida Statutes, notice of the bond validation suit was published. (Appendix Tab 5.) The bond validation trial was scheduled for August 24, 2000, and immediately prior to the trial, the Trial Court heard motions that resulted in the dismissal of the Complaint. (Hearing Transcript dated August 24, 2000, Appendix Tab 4.) On November 27, 2000, the Pinellas County Circuit Court entered an Order dismissing the City's Complaint on the grounds that (1) the Trial Court lacked jurisdiction and (2) that the Pinellas County suit was barred by the collateral estoppel effect of the Hillsborough County Circuit Court's denial of the City's Motion for Summary Judgment. (Appendix Tab 6.) The Pinellas County Circuit Court Tab 6.)

The Pinellas County Circuit Court Order of Dismissal was executed on November 27, 2000, and the City timely filed its Notice of Appeal on December 5, 2000. (Appendix Tab 7.)

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Trial Court erred in dismissing the City's bond validation suit for lack of subject matter jurisdiction. The JPA violates Article VII, Section 12 of the Florida Constitution because it constitutes a long-term debt incurred by the City without a referendum. The City's Complaint asserts that the Pinellas County Circuit Court had subject matter jurisdiction pursuant to Chapter 75, Florida Statutes, which states that the trial court for the County within which the City is located shall have jurisdiction over litigation brought to determine the validity of public bonds and certificates of indebtedness. The Trial Court erroneously ruled that the JPA was not a bond or certificate of indebtedness, and therefore Chapter 75, Florida Statutes did not apply. The JPA is a bond or certificate of indebtedness that involves a long-term pledge of the City's ad valorem taxes, and as such, is subject to the provisions of Chapter 75. The JPA provides that if the expense to construct the City's utilities exceeds \$1,094,817.19, then the FDOT shall pay all costs in excess of \$1,094,817.19, and at the end of the 715 day construction project, the City shall reimburse the FDOT for all costs, damages and attorney's fees, plus interest. Accordingly, the JPA constitutes a long-term debt obligation of the City. Furthermore, the JPA does not contain the judicially prescribed "savings clauses" necessary to prohibit a judgment creditor from coercing the use of ad valorem taxes to repay a debt obligation. Absent from the JPA

are savings clauses that: expressly prohibit the use of ad valorem taxes; expressly limit payment of the obligation to appropriations made during an annual budget period; or expressly state that payment of the JPA debt shall solely be from project revenues. Absent the savings clauses, the JPA directly implicates the use of ad valorem taxes. Moreover, due to the critical importance of providing sewer and water service to the City's citizens, even if the saving provisions were present, the City would face the insurmountable moral obligation to repay the FDOT from ad valorem taxes or risk loss of the City's utilities. The JPA and Florida Statutes, Sections 337.403 and 337.404, also create an unlawful security interest that would create an insurmountable moral obligation to repay the FDOT from ad valorem taxes or risk loss of the City's utilities. The JPA and Florida Statutes, Sections

A capital improvement contract (such as the JPA) entered into by a municipality requiring payment over a period greater than one year, and in which funding does, or could come from, ad valorem revenues is an obligation within the scope of Article VII, Section 12 of the Florida Constitution, thereby requiring a referendum of eligible voters. The JPA and the debt obligation incurred by the City as a result of the JPA were not subject to a public referendum of the citizens of Oldsmar, Florida. Therefore, the JPA violates the referendum requirement of Article VII, Section 12 of the Florida Constitution and is void.

Prior to entering into the JPA with the City, the FDOT was aware that a joint

project agreement would be subject to the constraints of Article VII, Section 12 of the Florida Constitution. Nonetheless, despite knowledge that the JPA would be subject to Article VII, Section 12, the FDOT failed to include in the JPA any of the judicially recognized savings provisions such as a non-appropriation clause or prohibition against the use of ad valorem taxes.

A determination made pursuant to Chapter 75, Florida Statutes, is the only way for all actual and potential challenges regarding the validity of the JPA and any payments made thereunder can be resolved. Absent a determination pursuant to Chapter 75, if the FDOT obtains a judgment against the City in the Hillsborough County suit, any citizen of the City can bring suit to prohibit payment of the judgment as an unlawful debt. Accordingly, judicial efficiency dictates that all challenges to the validity of the JPA be resolved now, rather than after incurring the expense of the Hillsborough County trial.

The Trial Court also erred in dismissing the City's Complaint on the grounds that the City was collaterally estopped from asserting the constitutional invalidity of the JPA. Although the City asserted that the JPA violated Article VII, Section 12 of the Florida Constitution as a defense in the Hillsborough County case, the Hillsborough County Court never rendered a final adjudication on the merits of that issue. The Hillsborough County Court merely denied the City's Motion for Summary Judgment on the grounds that issues of fact were present. The Hillsborough County Case is still pending. Therefore, the City's bond validation suit in Pinellas County is not barred by the doctrine of collateral estoppel.

\_\_\_\_\_The Trial Court also erred in granting the FDOT's motion to intervene on the grounds that the FDOT, the bondholder, is the real party in interest and indispensable party. This Court has held that a bondholder is not an indispensable party to a bond validation proceeding.

### **ARGUMENT**

## I. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED WHEN IT DISMISSED THE CITY'S BOND VALIDATION COMPLAINT FOR LACK OF SUBJECT MATTER JURISDICTION.

Pursuant to Chapter 75, Florida Statutes, the City of Oldsmar ("City") filed a Complaint in the Circuit Court in Pinellas County, Florida, seeking a judicial determination whether the Joint Project Agreement ("JPA") between the City and the FDOT was an invalid debt under Article VII, Section 12 of the Florida Constitution. <sup>4</sup> The Trial Court dismissed the Complaint on the grounds that the JPA was not a bond or certificate of indebtedness, and therefore, the Trial Court ruled that it lacked subject matter jurisdiction because Article VII, Section 12 was not implicated. The Trial Court erred when it determined that the JPA was not a bond or certificate of indebtedness subject to Article VII, Section 12, and erred when it dismissed the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Article VII, Section 12 of the Florida Constitution provides that a municipality with ad valorem taxing powers may not incur long-term debt that may expose ad valorem taxes to liability for the debt, unless the municipality's electorate has approved the debt via referendum. Article VII, Section 12 states, in pertinent part,

Counties, school districts, municipalities, special districts and local governmental bodies with taxing powers may issue bonds, certificates of indebtedness or any form of tax anticipation certificates, payable from ad valorem taxation and maturing more than twelve months after issuance only: ... when approved by vote of the electors who are owners of freeholds ....

Complaint for lack of jurisdiction. <sup>5</sup>

The transcript of the hearing which culminated with the dismissal reveals that the Trial Court did not understand that essentially any municipal debt can be subject to Article VII, Section 12. (Transcript of August 24, 2000 hearing, pp. 46-49, Appendix Tab 5.) The Trial Court viewed the JPA as merely a contract, rather than a formal "bond or certificate of indebtedness," and ruled that Article VII, Section 12, thus, did not apply. (Order, ¶1, Appendix Tab 6.) The Trial Court's narrow (and incorrect) definition of a bond or certificate of indebtedness was

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> It is apparent from the wording of the Trial Court's November 27, 2000 Order (Appendix Tab 9) that the City's complaint was dismissed for lack of subject matter jurisdiction and not for lack of personal jurisdiction. However, in an abundance of caution, the City contends that the Trial Court clearly had personal jurisdiction over all named defendants and intervening defendants. The Trial Court obtained personal jurisdiction over the defendants upon the City's publishing notice of the suit pursuant to §75.06, Florida Statutes. (See Appendix Tab 5.) Notwithstanding paragraph 6 of the Trial Court's November 27, 2000 Order, the City did provide notice to all necessary parties pursuant to Florida Statutes, Chapter 75. Furthermore, as discussed in greater detail in Section III of this brief, the FDOT is not an indispensable party to this action, and by actively participating in the suit, the FDOT waived any claim it may have had based on lack of personal jurisdiction. See Romellotti v. Hanover Amgro Ins. Co., 652 So.2d 414 (Fla. 5th DCA 1995) (The defense of lack of personal jurisdiction must be raised at the first opportunity or it is waived); Coto-Ojeda v. Samuel, 642 So.2d 587 (Fla. 3d DCA 1994)(When a party appears in court to contest subject matter jurisdiction, that party has entered a general appearance which results in waiver of the defense of lack of personal jurisdiction.).

further colored by the Trial Court's express disdain for the seemingly harsh result sought by the City, which was invalidation of the JPA. (Transcript pp. 45-51, Appendix Tab 4.) The confluence of the Trial Court's definition of a bond and its disdain for the relief sought, resulted in the Complaint being dismissed in error. The JPA is not an archtypical "bond or certificate of indebtedness," but, as established below, the JPA irrefutably is a debt that is subject to the constraints of Article VII, and although invalidation of the JPA may appear harsh, that result is mandated by the Florida Constitution.

In testing any scheme of public financing, doubts as to whether the scheme violates the Constitution are to be resolved against the scheme and in favor of invalidation. <u>See Hollywood, Inc. v. Broward County</u>, 90 So.2d 47 (Fla. 1956); <u>Kathleen Citrus Land Co. v. City of Lakeland</u>, 169 So. 356 (Fla. 1936); <u>Spearman Brewing Co. v. City of Pensacola</u>, 187 So. 365, 367 (Fla. 1939)("[A]ny reasonable doubt that evidences of indebtedness may be issued without the approval of a majority of the voters at an election for the purpose will be resolved against the validity of such instruments.")

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