IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

THE CITY OF OLDSMAR, a municipal corporation and public body corporate and politic of the State of Florida,

Appellant,

vs.

CASE NO. SC00-2695

STATE OF FLORIDA, and the taxpayers, property owners and citizens of the City of Oldsmar, Florida, including non-residents owning property in, or subject to taxation by, the City of Oldsmar; and STATE OF FLORIDA, DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION,

Appellees.

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE, STATE OF FLORIDA, DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE SIXTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR PINELLAS COUNTY, FLORIDA

GENERAL CIVIL DIVISION

CASE NO: 00-004479-CI-21

Pamela S. Leslie
General Counsel

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

C. The Joint Project Agreement is not a debt obligation and the lack of a savings provision does not render it violative of Article VII, Section 12, Florida Constitution. (Responding to Point I.B.)

Article VII, Section 12, Florida Constitution, provides:

Local bonds.--Counties, school districts, municipalities, special districts and local governmental bodies with taxing powers may issue bonds, certificates of indebtedness or any form of tax anticipation certificates, payable from ad valorem taxation and maturing more than twelve months after issuance only:

- (a) to finance or refinance capital projects authorized by law and only when approved by vote of the electors who are owners of freeholds therein not wholly exempt from taxation; or
- (b) to refund outstanding bonds and interest and redemption premium thereon at a lower net average interest cost rate.

It is the City's position that the JPA in this case violates this provision because it is "nothing more than a means for the City to finance the cost of the construction by postponing for at least 715 days all expenses in excess of the \$1,094,817.79 advanced by the City. As such, the JPA is a debt obligation 'maturing more than twelve months after issuance,' and is subject to Article VII Section 12 of the Florida Constitution." (IB. 22)

As argued above, the JPA does not create a debt obligation maturing more than twelve months after issuance. This is so because the City paid its obligation before the work began on the project - its obligation was to pay for all work associated with the relocation of the City's utilities - work that the City would have had to do with its own forces but for the City's election to include the work in the Department's contract and to pay for it upfront. The so-called savings clauses that the City now argues could have saved the JPA from constitutional defects are neither necessary nor required.

The Department cannot and does not dispute the holdings of this Court regarding constitutional infirmities under Article VII, Section 12, Florida Constitution, and the types of language necessary to save bond financing arrangements from constitutional infirmity. The decisions are clear and consistent that proposed bonds supported or serviced by that interlocal agreements, ground leases, facilities leases, and trust agreements are limited by this constitutional provision. See, e.g., State v. School Bd. of Sarasota County, 561 So. 2d 549 (Fla. 1990).

In <u>School Board of Sarasota</u>, this Court upheld the trial court's validation of bonds supported by a ground lease of school land to not-for-profit entities, the school boards' leaseback of facilities to be constructed, and trust agreements conveying lease rights, to finance construction of new school facilities. <u>Id.</u> In

affirming the trial court's validation, this Court noted that of the four sources of lease payments identified by the school boards, three sources were non-ad valorem and one was from ad valorem taxes. Id. at 549 n.3. This Court concluded that "because these obligations are not supported by the pledge of ad valorem taxation, they are not 'payable from ad valorem taxation' within the meaning of article VII section 12, and referendum approval is not required." Id. at 552. The agreements, it was concluded "although supported in part by ad valorem revenues, expressly provide that neither the bondholders nor anyone else can compel the use of the ad valorem taxing power to service the bonds." Id. Moreover, this Court continued, the agreements "give the boards freedom to decide anew each year, burdened only by lease penalties, whether to appropriate funds for the lease payments." Id.

However, different clauses and similar clauses have met with varying results. For example, this Court has also concluded that bonds secured by a county's pledge of "all legally available, unencumbered sources of county revenue including all money derived from regulatory fees and user charges assessed by the county" would "have the effect of requiring the levy of increased ad valorem taxation, requiring a referendum." County of Volusia v. State, 417 So. 2d 968, 969 (Fla. 1982). Quoting its earlier opinion in Town of Medley v. State, 162 So. 2d 257, 258 (Fla. 1964), this Court reminded issuing authorities:

Only bonds or certificates of indebtedness which directly obligate the ad valorem taxing power are encompassed by Section 6, Article IX, Fla. Const. The incidental effect on use of the ad valorem taxing power occasioned by the pledging of other sources of revenue does not subject such bonds or certificates to that constitutional requirement.

While these cases provide guidance to issuing authorities in their efforts to craft valid and constitutionally firm agreements to support their bonding efforts, they neither address the issue presented in this case nor establish error in the trial court's conclusions. Most of the cases cited by the City are attacks on agreements supporting a bond issue or proceedings to validate proposed bonds supported by written agreements. (IB. 24-31) See, e.q., City of Orlando v. State, 67 So. 2d 673 (Fla. 1953)(street improvement certificates specifically prohibited use of ad valorem taxes to pay the city's debt and were not bonds); Clover Leaf v. City of Jacksonville, 199 So. 923 (Fla. 1941)(paving certificates were mere evidences of indebtedness and city may not borrow money under a device for repayment); Kathleen Citrus, 169 So. 356 (injunction granted because sewer revenue debentures contained features of a borrowing plan without public referendum).

The City improperly characterizes the JPA in this manner:

In reality, via the JPA, the City unwittingly gave the FDOT a signed open check that the FDOT could tender for payment 4 years or more in the future. In doing so the City lost its ability for full budgetary flexibility in the future. . . (IB. 25 n.9)

As revealed by a plain reading of the JPA (Tab 2), that is not the purpose of the JPA or a result of the JPA. The City's utilities are located in the Department's right of way. The City, as required by Sections 337.401-337.404, Florida Statutes¹⁰, and Rule 14-46.001, Florida Administrative Code, is responsible for the relocation of those utilities. Accordingly, the City entered into the JPA and paid up-front the amount the City determined would be the full and only cost of relocating its utilities. As required, the City also provided the Department and the Department's contractor with plans to effectuate relocation of the utilities for the amount determined. The City could have performed the work itself or have the work performed by the Department's contractor.¹¹ The City chose the latter.

If, and only if, the City's estimate or plans were erroneous

¹⁰ w(1) Whenever it shall become necessary for the authority to remove or relocate any utility as provided in the preceding section, the owner of the utility, or the owner's chief agent, shall be given notice of such removal or relocation and an order requiring the payment of the cost thereof, and shall be given reasonable time, which shall not be less than 20 nor more than 30 days, in which to appear before the authority to contest the reasonableness of the order. Should the owner or the owner's representative not appear, the determination of the cost to the owner shall be final. Authorities considered agencies for the purposes of chapter 120 shall adjudicate removal or relocation of utilities pursuant to chapter 120."

¹¹This statutory scheme and a City's mandated repayment have been previously enforced. <u>City of Opa-locka v. Dep't of Transp.</u>, DOAH Case No. 93-9241, DOT Case No. 93-0479, <u>affirmed</u>; <u>City of Opa-locka v. Dep't of Transp.</u>, 709 So. 2d 651 (Fla. 3d DCA 1998).

or defective would the City become responsible for any additional cost. The JPA imposes no additional costs and any potential additional cost is not pre-determined, nor is any defense thereto contracted away. The City can contest any additional cost claimed by the Department's contractor, and is doing so in the Hillsborough case. (Tab 3A, 3B) In the Hillsborough case the City has alternatively argued that the JPA is void ab initio, that it should not be obligated to pay any additional amounts, that it should recover the amount prepaid, and that it should be able to affirmatively enforce provisions of the JPA as the City interprets them. (Tab 3B) The provisions in the JPA for reimbursement of monies paid by the Department to the contractor on the City's behalf due to the errors and omissions of the City are enforceable, and do not violate Article VII, Section 12, Florida Constitution.

The City argues that the Department entered into the JPA at its own peril, and that even equitable estoppel will not permit the enforcement of a void agreement, citing to Frankenmuth Mutual Ins. Corp., 1996 WL 571042 (N.D. Fla. 1996), Ramsey v. City of Kissimmee, 190 So. 474 (Fla. 1939), and P.C.B. Partnership v. City of Largo, 549 So. 2d 738 (Fla. 2d DCA 1989). The underlying principle behind these cases is that taxpayers should not be held accountable for the expense of contracted goods or services unless the contract has been entered into according to the law. However, none of these cases involves a prepaid obligation, two governmental

entities with overlapping spheres of responsible taxpayers, or fully performed services. If the City is bound by its contractual obligation in this case, the City's taxpayers, who are the sole beneficiaries of the work performed, will pay for it. If the City is not bound by its contractual obligation in this case and the additional cost or the entire cost is to be borne by the Department, all taxpayers of the State of Florida will pay for the benefit enjoyed by only the City's residents. The rule of law to emanate from this case cannot be that a fully performed standard contract is void ab initio and an agreement between two governmental entities are subject to invalidation proceedings after being executed and performed. There is no basis in law or fact to support such a result.

D. The Joint Project Agreement does not create a secured debt in violation of Article VII, Section 12. (Responding to Point I.C.)

The City argues that the JPA in this case is invalid because this Court invalidated a provision in a debt instrument that gave a creditor a right to foreclose on property owned by a governmental entity in Nohrr v. Brevard County Educ. Facilities Auth., 247 So. 2d 304 (Fla. 1971) and cites also to Op. Att'y Gen. Fla. 98-71 (1998). However, it is not the JPA that the City argues creates a possibility of a lien on the City's property, but Section 337.403(3), Florida Statutes, which provides:

Whenever an order of the authority such removal or change in the requires location of any utility from the right-of-way of a public road or publicly owned rail corridor, and the owner thereof fails to remove or change the same at his or her own expense to conform to the order within the time stated in the notice, the authority shall proceed to cause the utility to be removed. The expense thereby incurred shall be paid out of any money available therefor, and such expense shall, except provided as subsection (1), be charged against the owner and levied and collected and paid into the fund from which the expense of such relocation was paid.

The constitutionality of the statute under Article VII, Section 12, Florida Constitution, was not argued below, the issue was not decided below, and the issue has not been preserved for appeal. If Section 337.403(3), Florida Statutes, is unconstitutional as written or as applied, this is an issue to be decided another day, in another appeal, on a properly perfected record.

The cases offered by the City for the proposition that the JPA is invalid because the City would be morally compelled to levy taxes to pay the debt imposed by the JPA are not persuasive. (IB. 32-33) In Nohrr, this Court validated non-referendum revenue bonds, but deleted from the bonds certain provisions creating a mortgage on the property which allowed bondholders to foreclose in the event of default. Nohrr, 247 So. 2d at 1024. Neither the bonds nor the supporting documents were deemed invalid or illegal; the offending language was merely deleted. The language this Court

deleted was in the bond, not imposed by statute. In its initial brief, the City, for the first time, raises the constitutionality of Sections 337.403 and 337.404, Florida Statutes, arguing that they are the "functional equivalents of the 'non-substitution clause' deemed unconstitutional in <u>Frankenmuth</u> 769 So. 2d at 1012." (IB. 33 n.11) Constitutional issues cannot be raised for the first time on appeal. <u>See Reese v. Dep't of Transp.</u>, 743 So. 2d 1227, 1229 (Fla. 4th DCA 1999).

The JPA in this case does not create a secured debt upon which the Department could foreclose. If the JPA becomes a secured debt by operation of an alleged unconstitutional statute, that issue was not raised below and must be decided another day. Under the JPA, the City pays for work the City is required by law to perform and agrees to stand behind its work in estimating the amount paid and in preparing the plans upon which the contractor would rely to perform the work. The City's potential exposure to a lawsuit for its errors and omissions is nothing more than the legislature contemplated when it allowed municipalities to sue and be sued and this Court intended in cases enforcing those actions. Trianon Park Condominium Ass'n v. City of Hialeah, 468 So. 2d 912 (Fla. 1985); Pan-Am Tobacco Corp., 471 So. 2d 4; Miorelli Engineering, Inc., 703 So. 2d 1049.

E. The trial court in the Pinellas case properly concluded that the prior filed and pending action in the Hillsborough case in which the City raised the Joint Project Agreement as both a shield and a sword must proceed and the Pinellas case must be dismissed. (Responding to I.D.)

A bond validation proceeding authorized by Section 75.02, Florida Statutes, authorizes:

Any county, municipality, taxing district or other political district or subdivision of this state, including the governing body of any drainage, conservation or reclamation district, and including also state agencies, commissions and departments authorized by law to issue bonds, may determine its authority to incur bonded debt or issue certificates of debt and the legality of all proceedings in connection therewith, including assessment of taxes levied or to be levied, the lien thereof and proceedings or other remedies for their collection. For this purpose a complaint shall be filed. . . . (emphasis added)

The City admits that the motivation behind the filing of the Pinellas case is the Hillsborough case, in which the City argued and lost (without prejudice) the very issues it now raises and arguments it now makes in the Pinellas case, and in this appeal.

(T. 47) The Hillsborough case is still pending. (T. 49) The pendency of the prior filed Hillsborough case was the basis for the trial judge's reliance on estoppel as one of the two bases for his decision. (Tab 7, p.5)

For the proposition that the Pinellas case is the only method of resolving the issues raised in the Hillsborough case, the City

points to <u>Bessemer Properties v. City of Opalocka</u>, 74 So. 2d 296 (Fla. 1954). In <u>Bessemer</u>, the City of Opalocka filed a declaratory judgment action to <u>validate</u> proposed certificates of indebtedness. <u>Id.</u> at 297. This Court concluded that the city should have utilized Chapter 75, Florida Statutes, to <u>validate</u> its proposed certificates, reversed the trial court's order to the contrary, and directed the cause be dismissed without prejudice to the city to proceed in a "manner authorized by law." <u>Id.</u> Once again, the City relies on pre-issue validation proceeding cases to support its claims of error in the trial court's proper disposal of its five year after the fact contract <u>invalidation</u> proceeding to circumvent a pending proceeding in another jurisdiction.

This Court has held that when contract provisions are collateral to a bond validation proceeding, Chapter 75, Florida Statutes, is not the proper vehicle for resolution. Sunrise Lakes, 383 So. 2d 631; McCoy Restaurants, 392 So. 2d 252. In Sunrise Lakes, this Court affirmed a trial court's validation of certain bonds. More importantly, this Court also affirmed the trial court's conclusion that it lacked jurisdiction to decide the validity of the supporting operating contract because it was a collateral issue involving "other parties [which] . . . clearly cannot be properly resolved in a bond validation proceeding." Id. at 633.

In McCoy Restaurants, this Court reminded litigants that

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